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COMPLAINT 

1, STATEMENT OF THE CASE, JURI[SDICTION AND VENUE 

1. This is a federal Clean Air Act citizen suit enforcement action brought by 

plaintiffs Sierra Club and Wyoming Outdoor Council ('"plaintiffs9') against defendant PacifiCorp 

to address significant and ongoing violations of air pollution pennit emission limits at 

PacifiCorp's Jiin Bridger Power Plant ("Jim Bridger") located in Sweetwater County, Wyoming. 

This complaint seeks declaratory and injunctive relief and the imposition of civil penalties 



(payable to the federal Treasury) under the federal Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. 5 5 740 1 through 

767 1 q. 

2. This court has subject matter jurisdiction over the claims set forth in this 

complaint pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 5 7604(a) (citizen suit provision of Clean Air Act) and 28 

U.S.C. fj 133 1 (federal question statute). Jurisdiction also exists under 28 U.S.C. 5 1331 because 

this action is brought to address defendant's violations of its federally enforceable Title V 

Opcratiiig Permit issued pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 99 7661 -61f, and Wyoming's EPA-approved Title 

V permit program. 64 Fed. Reg. 8523 (Feb. 22, 1999). The relief requested is autl~orized 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. $ 5  2201 and 2202, and 42 U.S.C. $ 9  7413 and 7604. 

3. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 3 7604(c) and 28 U.S.C. 5 5  1391(b) and (c), venue lies in 

the District of Wyoming because Sweetwater Coui~ty is located in Wyoming. 

4. To the extent required by 42 U.S.C. 5 7604(b)(l)(A), on November 15,2006, 

plaintiffs notificd in writing the Administrator of the EPA, the Wyoming Department of 

Environmental Quality ("WDEQ"), and the defendant of the alleged violatio~ls set forth in this 

complaint and plaintiffs' intent to sue. A true and accurate copy of ylaii~tiffs' notice letter to 

PacifiCorp is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

5. More than sixty days have passed since notice was served by U.S. Mail. 

Defendant has violated, and remains in violation of, its operating permit and the Clean Air Act. 



6. Neither the State of Wyoming or EPA has commenced or diligently prosecuted a 

court action to require compliance with all of the emission limits that PacifiCorp is alleged to 

have violated, and to be in violation of, in this complaint. 

11. PARTIES 

7. The Sierra Club, a national citizens organization, is dedicated to protecting natural 

resources, including clean air and water. On behalf of its members, including its members in 

Wyoming, Sierra Club works to protect and enhance the quality of air in the Wyoming, including 

the air ill southern Wyoming that is impacted by the excessive emissions from Jim Bridges. The 

Sierra Club brings this action on behalf of its adversely affcctcd members. The educational, 

scientific, aesthetic, and conservation interests of Sierra Club and its members have been, are 

being and, unless this Court grants the requested relief, will continue to be adversely affected by 

PacjfiGorp's ongoing violations of thc Clcan Air Act. 

8. The Wyoming Outdoor Council ("WOC") is a nonprofit membership organization 

founded by Wyoming residents in 1967 to conserve the state's wildlife and protect its air, water 

and land by promoting sound natural resources policies. WOC is based in Lander, Wyoming, 

and has members throughout the state of Wyoming. WOC brings this action on behalf of its 

adversely affected members. WOC members regularly engage in wildlife viewing, outdoor 

recreation, scientific study, and other activities in southern Wyoming, including Sweetwater 

County. Protection of clean air, clean water, healthy vegetation, and productive soils are of 



paramount concern to WOC and its members as they all support healthy populations of wildlife, 

fish, and plants. Glean air allows WOG and its members to enjoy viewing, studying, and 

otherwise appreciating the natural resources of Wyoming. The educational, scientific, aesthetic, 

and conservation intcrests of WOG and its members have been, are being and, unless this C o u ~  

grants the requested relief, will continue to be adversely affected by PacifiCorp's ongoing 

violations of the Clean Air Act. 

9. Members of Sierra Club and WOC reside in, work in, or regularly visit and use 

the resources of the Red Desert, the airshed most immediately impacted by PacifiCorp's 

violations of the Clean Air Act at Jim Bridger. The aesthetic, recreational, environmental, 

spiritual, economic and health-related interests of plaintiffs' members have been injured by 

PacifiCorp's illegal and excessive emissions o l  pollutants into the airshed of the Red Desert and 

Southern Wyoming. The interests of plaintiffs' members that are directly injured by defendant's 

excessive and illegal discharge of pollutants from the Jim Bridger include, but are not limited to: 

( I )  breathing air in the Red Desert and surrounding areas free from PacifiCorp's excessive 

pollutant discharges, (2) viewing the sky, natural scenery and wildlife unimpaired by ugly 

pollutioll plumes and haze caused, in whole or in pa?, by PacifiCorp, and (3) protecting tlie 

natural ecology of the region from air pollution related impacts. The interests of plaintiffs' 

members have been, and unless the relief requested berein is granted, will continue to be, 

adversely affected by PacifiCorp's violatiolas of the Clean Air Act. 



10. Plaintiffs' members could bring this action in their individual capacity. None of 

the claims asserted or relief requested, however, requires that plaintiffs' members bring such an 

action in their individual capacity. 

1 1. PacifiCorp is a multi-state electric utility, based in Portland, Oregon. PacifiCorp 

is a wholly-owned subsidiary of MidAmerican Energy Holdings Company ("MidAmerican"). 

MidAmerican, a self-described "global leader in the production of energy," owns energy 

companies in the United States and Britain and is based in Des Moines, Iowa. 

12. PacifiCorp is authorized to do business in Wyoming. PacifiCorp is the operator 

and majority owner of Jim Bridger. .Jim Bridger generates electricity. PacifiCorp is the named 

permittee in WDEQ Operating Permits dated October 29, 2001 (No. 30-120-21, June 15,2004 

(No. 3 1-120-1), and September 6,2005 (No. 3-1 -1 20-2). PacifiCorp has overall responsibility 

for ensuring that pollutai~t emissions from Jim Bridger do not exceed permit limits, and 

PacifiCorp has the authority to correct violations of air pollution permit limits at Jim Bridger. 

111. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

The Jim Bridger Plant 

13, PacifiCorp's Jim Bridger power plant is located at Point of Rocks, Wyoming, 

approximately twenty-six miles east of Rock Springs, Wyoming. 

14. Jim Bridger consists of four coal-fired electrical generating units. Units 1-3 have 

nameplate capacities of 578 megawatts ("MW) each and Unit 4 has a nameplate capacity of 561 



MW. The four tangentially-fired boilers all have the same size firing rate of 5,610 mrnBTU/hr. 

Goal for Jim Bridger comes by conveyor and truck from the nearby Bridger mine. Cooling water 

for Jim Bridger comes via a 40-mile pipeline from the Green Rivcr. 

15. Jim Bridger generates electricity by burning coal to create steam, and then passing 

that steam through a turbine to drive a generator that ultimately produces electricity. 

16. According to PacifiCo~p's November 1995 Title V Permit application for Jim 

Bridger, Units 1-3 commenced construction in 1970 and Unit 4 commenced construction in 

1975. Unit 1 was placed in service in November of 1974. Unit 2 was placed in service in 

December of 1975, Unit 3 was in service by September, 1976, and Unit 4 by November, 1.979. 

17. When coal is burned to generate electricity, pollution is also generated. Pollution 

from the boilers at the four units at Jim Bridger is discharged into the air of southern Wyoming 

through four separate smokestacks. 

18. According to PacifiCorp's September 6,2005 Operating Permit No. 3- 1-120-2, all 

four units at Jim Bridger cumulatively emit on an annual basis into the air of Wyoming 

approximately 14,000 tons of respirable particulate matter (PM,,), 4 1,000 tons of nitrogen oxides 

(NO,), and 27,000 tons of sulfur dioxide (SO,). 

19. Jim Bridger's annual NO, emissions are equivalent to the emissions of more than 

two million cars each driven 12,500 miles per year. (According to EPA, an average passenger 



vehicle emits 38 pounds of NO, per year. Jim Bridger emits approximately 82,000,000 pounds 

of NO, per year. Thus 82,000,000 + 38 = 2.1 million.) 

20. In 2004 PacifiCorp reported that Jim Bridger emitted over 280,000 pounds of 

hazardous air pollutants, including 120,000 pounds of hydrogen fluoride, 68,000 pounds of 

hydrochloric acid, and 100,000 pounds of sulfuric acid. PacifiCorp Toxic Release Inventory 

Report, 2004. Air pollutants identified by EPA as hazardous pursuant to Section 112 of the 

Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. 5 7412, include those that are associated with carcinogenic, respiratory, 

nervous system, deniial, developmental, and/or reproductive health effects. 

21. Every year Jim Bridger also discharges into Wyoming's air 440 pounds of 

mercury, another hazardous air pollutant. This an~ount of mercury is equivalent to the mercury in 

approxiinately 285,000 household tl~ermometers. The amount of mercury in one household 

thermometer (0.7 g) is enough to contaminate all of the fish in a lake with a surface area of 20 

acres. 

22. Particulate matter of the size and type emitted from Jim Bridger's smokestacks is 

visible as a plume when it leaves the smokestacks, and coiltributes to a haze or loss of visibility 

in the atmosphere. Particulate matter of the size and type emitted from Jim Bridger's 

smokestacks is transported by winds for many miles. If breathed, fine particulate matter may be 

lodged deep in the lungs and has been linked to increased human illness and mortality. 

Particulate matter emitted from Jim Bridger includes hazardous air pollutants. 



23. SO, and sulfate (SO,) emissions also contribute to visual haze in the atmosphere. 

Sulfur dioxide emitted from coal combustion is chemically transformed into sulfate particles that 

are damaging to lungs, visibility. forests and property. 

Clean Air Act Title V Operating Permit Requirements 

24. The objective of the federal Clean Air Act is "to protect and enhance the quality 

of the nation's air resources so as to promote the public health and welfare and the productivc 

capacity of its population." Section 101 (b), 42 U.S.C. $ 7401 (b). 

25. Section 502(b) of the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. $ 766la(b), required EPA to 

promulgate regulations establishing an operating permit program for stationary sources of air 

pollution. The regulations EPA promulgated. found at 40 C.F.R. Part 70, presently govern the 

establishment of federal operating permit programs. 

26. Pursuant to EPA's Part 70 regulations, the State of Wyoming created a Title V 

operating permit program to which EPA gave final approval 012 February 22, 1999. 64 Fed. Reg. 

8523. 

27. Each Title V permit issued pursuant to this program must contain "enforceable 

emission limitations and standards" necessary to assure compliance with applicable requirements 

of the Clean Air Act. Furlhermore, the Clean Air Act specifically prohibits any permittee from 

violating any requirement of a Title V permit. 42 U.S.C. 5 7661a(a). 



28. Section 304(a) of the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C $ 7604(a), authorizes any person to 

commence a civil action on his own behalf against any person "who is alleged to have violated 

(if there is evidence that alleged violation has been repeated) or to be in violation of (A) an 

emission standard or limitation under this chapter. . ." The Clean Air Act's citizen suit provision 

was passed by Congress in 1970 to afford citizens "very broad opportunities to participate in the 

effort to prevent and abate air pollution." 1 Legislative History of the Clean Air Act 

Amendments of 1970, Ser. No. 93-18, p. 138. 

29. The Clean Air Act at 42 U.S.C §$  7604(f)(1),(3), and (4) defines "Emission 

standard or limitation under this Act" to mean: 

(1) a scl~edule or timetable of compliance, emission limitation, standard of 
performance or emission standard . . . or (3) any condition or requirement under 
ail applicable implementation plan relating to transportation control mcasures, air 
quality maintenance plans, vehicle inspection and mainteimnce programs or vapor 
recovery requirements, or any requirement under section 74 1 1 or 74 12 of this title 
(without regard to whether such requirement is expressed as an emission standard 
or otherwise); or (4) any other standard, limitation, or schedule established under 
any permit issued pursuant to subchapter V of this chapter or under any applicable 
State implementation plan approved by the Administrator, any permit term or 
condition, and any requireinent to obtain a permit as a condition of operations 
which is in effect under this chapter or under an applicable implementation plan. 

30. A permit condition in a Title V permit issued by WDEQ is an enforceable 

"Emission standard or limitation" as defined by 42 U.S.C $7604(f)(l), (3), and (4), and therefore 

violations of permit conditioiis are the proper subject of a citizen enforcement under 42 U.S.C. 



PacifiCorp's Title V Operating Permits for Jim Bridger 

3 1. On October 29,2001, the Wyoming Department of Environmental Quality 

(WDEQ) issued Operating Permit No. 30-120-2 to PacifiGorp to limit the emission of air 

pollutants from the Jim Bridger power plant. Operating Permits in Wyoming are issued for a 

period of no more than five years. 42 U.S.C. 5 7661a(b)(5)(B). WDEQ re-issued operating 

permits for Jim Rridger on June 15,2004 (No. 31-120-1) and September 6,2005 (No. 3-1-120- 

2). Each operating pennit regulates the emission of air pollutai~ts from Jim Bridger. 

32. PacifiCoip did not object to, or otherwise appeal any provision of, Operating 

Permit Nos. 30- 120-2,3 1 - 120-1, and 3- 1 - 120-2 (collectively, "Operating Permits"). 

33. Pursuant to each of the Operating Permits for Jim Bridger, '"a]ll terms and 

conditions of tlie permit[s], except those designated as not federally enforceable, are enforceable 

by EPA and citizens under the Act." 

34. Pursuant to condition (F6)(a)(iii) in PacifiGorp's Operating Permits, the opacity of 

emissions froin the stacks of Jim Bridger Units 1-3 is limited to 20 percent on a six-minute 

average, except for one two-minute period per hour in which opacity may not exceed 40 percent. 

35. Pursuant to condition (F6)(b)(iv) in PacifiCorpVs Operating Permits, the opacity 

of emissions froin the stack of Jim Bridger Unit 4 is limited to 20 percent on a six-minute 

average except for one six-minute period per hour in which opacity may not exceed 27 percent. 



36. In the air pollution context, percentage opacity is the degree to which the 

transmittance of light is reduced by air pollutants. A pollution plume of 20 percent opacity, for 

example, ineans that light passing through the plume is reduced by 20 percent. A pollution 

plume of 100 percent opacity is so dense that light is unable to pass through it. 

37. The 20 percent opacity limit applicable to Jim Bridger Uiiits 1-4 is an "emission 

standard or limitation" within the meaning of 42 U.S.G. 5 7604(a)(l) and (f). 

38. The 20 percent opacity limit applicable to Jim Bridger Units 1-4 in PacifiCorp's 

Operating Permits is federally enforceable. 

39. PacifiCorp's Operating Permits do not describe an exception to the 20 percent 

opacity limit at Jim Bridger Uiiits 1-3 for each of the following conditions: (1) chemical 

compositioii of the flyash producing high resistivity in the ash, (2) one precipitator gas path out 

of service for maintenance, (3) temporary boiler draft excursion caused by unit load change, (4) 

boiler draft excursions caused by adjusting pulverizers, fans, sootblowers, and air homis, (5) flue 

gas 503 conditioning system out of service, (0) operating precipitator rappers continuously to 

remove ash deposits, (7) gas pat11 field or fields out of service for maintenance, (8) opacity 

spikes, cause unknown, (9) draft excursion caused by ash collecting system, (1 0) air frozen 

causing poor atomization in fuel oil burners, (1 1) boiler chemical cleai, turbine off-line, ignitors 

on for temperature control during boiler clean, (1 2) unit in startup mode, boiler draft system on, 

oil fuel firing, (1 3) unit in shutdown mode, draft system on for boiler cool down, no he1 firing, 



precipitator offline, (14) temporary boiler drafi excursion caused by gas path being put in, or 

taken out of service, (1 5 )  loss of power to precipitator controls, ( 1  6) low stack temperature, 

suspect moisture interference probable cause, (1 7) suspect oil coating of precipitator internals 

from boiler startup, rapping precipitator to remove coating and buildup and (18) any other reason 

for which no exception to the limit exists. 

40. PacifiCorp's Operating Permits do not describe an exception to the 20 percent 

opacity limit at Jim Bridger Unit 4 for each of the following conditions: (1) chemical 

composition of the flyash producing high resistivity in the ash, (2) one precipitator gas path out 

of service for maintenance, (3) temporary boiler draft excursion caused by unit load cl~ange, (4) 

boiler draft excursions caused by adjusting pulverizers, fans, sootblowers, and air horns, (5) flue 

gas SO3 conditioning system out of service, (6) operating precipitator rappers continuously to 

remove ash deposits, (7) gas path field or fields out of seivice for maintenance, (8) opacity 

spikes, cause unknown, (9) draft excursion caused by ash collecting system, (10) air frozen 

causing poor atomization in fuel oil burners, (1 1) boiler chemical clean, turbine off-line, ignitors 

on for temperature control during boiler clean, (12) unit in startup mode, boiler draft system on, 

oil fuel firing, (13) unit in shutdown mode, draft system on for boiler cool down, no &el firing, 

precipitator offline, (14) temporary boiler draft excursion caused by gas path being put in, or 

taken out of service, (15) loss of power to precipitator controls, (1 6) low stack temperature, 

suspect moisture interference probable cause, (1 7) suspect oil coating of precipitator internals 



from boiler startup, rapping precipitator to remove coating and buildup and (1 8) any other reason 

for which no exception to the limit exists. 

41. Pursuant to condition (F6)(c) ill PacifiCorp's Operating Pennits the opacity of 

emissions from the outlet of the electrostatic precipitator at Jim Bridger Unit 4 is limited to 30 

percent on an hourly average. 

42. The 30 percent opacity limit applicable to Jim Bridger Unit 4 in PacifiCorp's 

Operating Permits is an "emission standard or limitation" within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. 

tj 7604(a)(l) and (f). 

43. The 30 percent opacity limit applicable to Jim Rxidger Unit 4 in PacifiCorp's 

Operating Permits is federally enforceable. 

44. PacifiCorp's Operating Permits do not describe an exception to the 30 percent 

opacity limit applicable to Unit 4 for each of the following conditions: (1) chemical composition 

of the flyash producing high resistivity in tlie ash, (2) one precipitator gas path out of service for 

maintenance, (3) temporary boiler draft excursion caused by unit load change, (4) boiler draft 

excursioiis caused by adjusting pulverizers, fans, sootblowers, and air horns, (5) flue gas SO3 

conditioning system out of service, (6) operating precipitator rappers continuously to remove ash 

deposits, (7) gas path field or fields out of service for maintenance, (8) opacity spikes, cause 

unknown, (9) draft excursion caused by ash collecting system, (10) air frozen causing poor 

atomization in fuel oil burners, ( I  1) boiler chemical clean, turbine off-line, ignitors on for 



temperature control during boiler clean, (12) unit in startup mode, boiler draft system on, oil fuel 

firing, (1 3) unit in shutdown mode, draft system on for boiler cool down, no fuel firing, 

precipitator offline, (14) temporary boiler draft excursion caused by gas path being put in, or 

taken out of service, (15) loss of power to precipitator controls, (1 6) low stack temperature, 

suspect moisture interference probable cause, (1 7) suspect oil coating of precipitator intemals 

from boiler startup, rapping precipitator to remove coating and buildup and (1 8) any other reason 

for which no exception to the limit exists. 

Continuous Monitoring of Pollutants Discharged From Jim Bridger 

45. Pursuant to condition (F16)(d) in PacifiCorp's Operating Permit No. 30-120-2, 

after October 1,2001, PacifiCorp was required to monitor the opacity of emissions discharged 

from the stacks of Units 1-3 on a continuous basis. T11e requireinent to monitor the opacity of 

emissions from the staclts of Units 1-3 was carried forward in operating permits 3 1-1 20-1 and 3- 

1-120-2 in coiidition (F 19)(d)(i). 

46. Pursuant to conditions (F6)(c) and (F16)(e) in PacifiCorp's operating permits 30- 

120-2 and 3 1 - 120- 1, PacifiCorp is required to monitor the opacity of emissions discharged froin 

the outlet s f  the electrostatic precipitator at Jim Bridger Unit 4 on a continuous basis. The 

requirement to monitor the opacity of emissions discharged from the outlet of the electrostatic 

precipitator at Jim Bridger Unit 4 was carried foiward in Operating Permit 3-1 -120-2 ill 

conditions (F 6)(c) and (F 1 9)(d)(ii). 



47. The opacity of emissions from Jim Bridger Units 1-4 is monitored and recorded 

on a continuous basis by continuous opacity monitors (COMs). The opacity data from the COMs 

in the stacks at Jim Bridger Units 1-3 is reported in six-minute averages; the opacity data from 

the COM at the outlet of the electrostatic precipitator at Jim Bridger Unit 4 is reported in one- 

hour averages. 

48. The COMs at Jim Bridger consist of transmissometers that continuously measure, 

except for periods of dowi~time, the amount of light that can pass through the exhaust before 

such exhaust is emitted into the atmosphere. The less light that is able to pass through the 

exhaust gas due to the density of pollution, the greater the opacity. 

49. The COMs that measure the opacity of emissions from Jim Bridger are located 

and certified consistent wit11 the requiscments found at 40 C.F.R. 9 60, App. B, Performance 

Specification 1. 

50. The opacity data collected by the COMs is retained in a computer at Jim Bridger. 

5 1. The data from PacifiCorp's COMs at Jim Bridger show that emissions have 

exceeded 20 percent, PacifiCorp's permit limit, every calendar quarter over the last five years. In 

fact, the opacity of emissions from Jim Bridger has exceeded 28 percent thousands of times in 

the last five years. During these times, PacifiCorp's COMs recorded opacity readings that 

exceeded 80 percent opacity - over four times the 20 percent limit. 



52. The COMs at Jim Bridger monitor visible pollutants that can be seen by the naked 

eye after the pollutants cxit the stack. The pollutants identified by the COMs at Jim Bridger can 

contribute to a visible plume emanating from the smokestacks, and these pollutants can also 

contribute to a reduction in visibility in the area. 

The Reporting of Excess Emissi- 

53. Pursuant to PacifiCorp's Operating Permits, conditiolis (F29) and (NSPS-D4), 

PacifiCorp is required to submit on a quarterly basis a written report to WDEQ that discloses 

each period of time in which emissions of pollutants from Jim Bridger Units 1-4 exceeded the 

applicable opacity standard ("excess emission reports"). 

54. PacifiCorp has certified as true, accurate, and complete its excess emission reports 

regarding Jim Bridger. 

55. The opacity data in each of PacifiCorp's excess elmission reports for Jim Bridger 

from the fourth quarter of 2001 through the third quarter of 2006, as set forth in the electronic 

files attached to plaintiffs' November 15, 2006 notice letter, is true, accurate, and complete. 

Excess Emissions Impacts and Remedies 

56. The COM readings in excess of 20 percent from Jim Bridger Units 1-3, and the 

COM readings in excess of 20 and 30 percent froin Jim Bridger Unit 4, represent an increase in 

the amount of pollution discharged into the air compared to what the discharge would have been 

if the emissions had been less than 20 and 30 percent opacity. 



57. The amount of pollution represented by opacity readings greater than the 20 and 

30 percent limits could have been significantly reduced or eliminated altogether through the use 

of fabric filter dust collectors or "baghouses" at Jim Bridger. The use of appropriately sized, 

operated and maintained baghouses at Jim Bridger would ensure PacifiCorp's future compliance 

with its opacity limits. The opacity of emissions could also have been reduced by using natural 

gas as a fuel rather than, or in combination with, coal, and by lowering coal-firing rates. 

IV. CAUSES OF ACTION 

58. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and reallege the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 57 for all causes of action stated below. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

Emissions From Jim Bridger Units 1-3 in Violation of 20 Percent Opacity Limit 
in Operating Permits No. 30-120-2, No. 31-120-1, and No. 3-11-120-2 

(From October 2001 to the present) 

59. Condition (FG)(a)(iii) in PacifiCorp Operating Pennits No. 30-120-2, No. 3 1-120- 

1, and No. 3-1 -120-2, prohibits the emission of visible pollutants from Jim Bridger Units 1-3 that 

exhibit greater than 20 percent opacity on a six-miiiute average basis, except that one two-minute 

reading per hour may be no inore than 40 percent opacity. 

60. A 20 percent opacity limit applicable to Jim Bridger Units 1-3 has applied at all 

times between October 1,2001 and the date of this complaint. 



61. Betkvecn October 1,2001 and the date of this complaint, PacifiCorp has 

repeatedly violated condition (F6)(a)(iii) in Operating Permits No. 30- 120-2, No. 3 1-120-1, and 

No. 3- 1- 120-2 by emitting from Jim Bridger Units 1-3 visible emissions in excess of 20 percent 

opacity on a six-minute average basis. Such violations are demonstrated by PacifiCorp's 

continuous opacity monitor data. 

62. PacifiCorp continues to violate condition (FG)(a)(iii) in Operating Permit No. 3-1- 

120-2, and the Clean Air Act, by emitting from Jim Bridger Units 1-3 visible emissions in excess 

of 20 percent opacity on a six-minute average basis. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

Emissions From Jim Bridger Unit 4 in Violation of 30 Percent Opacity Limit 
in Operating Permits No. 30-120-2, No. 31-120-1, and No. 3-1-120-2 

(From October 2001 to the present) 

63. Condition (F6)(c) in PacifiCorp Operating Permits No. 30-1 20-2, No. 3 1- 120-1, 

and No. 3-1-1 20-2, prohibit the emission of visible pollutsu~ts from tlie outlet of tlie electrostatic 

precipitator at Jim Bridger Unit 4 in excess of 30 percent opacity on an hourly average basis. 

64. A 30 percent opacity limit applicable to Jim Bridger Unit 4 has applied at all 

times between October 1,2001 and the date of this complaint. 

65. Between October 1, 2001 and the date of this complaint, PacifiCorp has 

repeatedly violated condition (F6)(c) in Operating Pennits No. 30-120-2, No. 3 1-120-1, and No. 

3- 1 - 120-2, by emitting from the outlet of the electrostatic precipitator at Jim Bridger Unit 4 



visible emissions in excess of 30 percent opacity on an hourly-average basis. Such violations are 

demonstrated by PacifiCorp's continuous opacity monitor data. 

66. PacifiGorp continues to violate condition (F6)(c) in Operating Permit No. 3- 1 - 

120-2, and the Glean Air Act, by emitting from the outlet of the electrostatic precipitator at Jim 

Bridger Unit 4 visible emissions in excess of 30 percent opacity on an hourly average basis. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

Emissions From Jim Bridger Unit 4 in Violation of 20 Percent Opacity Limit 
in Operating Permits No. 30-120-2, No. 31-120-1, and No. 3-1-120-2 

(From October 2001 'to the present) 

67. Condition (F6)(b)(iv) in PacifiCorp Operating Pennits No. 30- 120-2, No. 3 1 - 120- 

I ,  and No. 3-1-120-2, prohibits the emission of visible pollutants from the stack at Jim Bridger 

Unit 4 in excess of 20 percent opacity on an six-minute average basis, except that one six-minute 

reading per hour may be no more than 27 percent opacity. 

68. A 20 percent opacity limit applicable to Jim Bridger Unit 4 has applied at all 

times between October 1,2001 and the date of this complaint. 

69. Between October 1,2001 and tlie date of this complaint, PacifiCorp has 

repeatedly violated condition (FG)(b)(iv) in Operating Permits No. 30- 120-2, No. 3 1-1 20-1, and 

No. 3-1 -120-2, by emitting from the stack at Jim Bridger Unit 4 visible emissions in excess of 20 

percent opacity on a six-minute average basis. Such violations are demonstrated by PacifiCorp's 

contiiiuous opacity monitor data recorded at the outlet of the electrostatic precipitator at Jim 



Bridger Unit 4. Readings recorded by PacifiCorp's continuous opacity lnonitors in excess of 30 

percent opacity at the outlet of the electrostatic precipitator indicate that the opacity of emissions 

froin the stack would be in excess of 20 percent opacity. 

70. PacifiCorp continues to violate condition (FG)(b)(iv) in Operating Permit No. 3-1- 

120-2, and the Clean Air Act, by emitting from the stack of Jim Bridger Unit 4 visible emissions 

in excess of 20 percent opacity on a six-minute average basis. 

V. RELIEF REQUESTED 

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court grant the following relief to 

correct defendant's significant and ongoing violations of law: 

A. DECLARE that defendant has violated and continues to violate Operating Permits No. 

30-120-2, No. 3 1-120- 1, and No. 3-1- 120-2, and the Clean Air Act, by allowing emissions from 

Jim Bridger to exceed the applicable opacity limits; 

B. ISSUE A PERMANENT INJUNCTION enjoining defendant to achieve full and 

continuing compliance with the opacity limits in Operating Permit No. 3-1-120-2; 

C. ORDER defendant to pay to the federal Treasury a civil penalty of $32,500 per day for 

each of defendant's violations of the Clcan Air Act, as provided for by law. 40 U.S.C. 5 7413(b); 

28 U.S.C. 3 2461, as amended by 31 U.S.C. 9 3701; 40 C.F.R. 8 19.2. The penalties should be 

directed to finance EPA air compliance and enforcement activities, as provided for by 42 U.S.C. 

5 7604(a) and 42 U.S.C. 5 7604(g)(l); 



D. ORDER defendant to pay up to $100,000 for beneficial mitigation projects, as provided 

for by 42 U.S.C. 8 7604(g)(2), consistent with the purposes of the Clean Air Act; 

E. ORDER defendant to pay plaintiffs their costs of litigation, including but not limited to 

reasonable attorney and expert witness fees, as authorized in Section 304 of the Clean Air Act, 

42 U.S.C. $7604(d); and 

F. GRANT such otlier relief as the Court deems necessary and proper. 

VT. JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiffs request a jury trial for all issues triable to a jury to the extent such issues are not 

resolved as a matter of law on motions for stmlmary judgment. 

DATED this &/) day of February, 2007. 

SIERRA CLUB and 
WYOMING OUTDOOR COUNCIL, 

Plaintiffs 

Reed Zars 
Wyoming Bar No. 6-3224 
Attorney at Law 
910 Kearney Street 
Laramie, WY 82070 
307-745-7979 
307-745-7999 (fax) 

Attorney for Plaii~tiffs 



Sierra Club 
247 Coffeen Avenue 
Sheridan, WY 82801 

Sierra Club 
85 Second Street 
San Francisco. CA 941 05. 

Wyoming Outdoor Council 
262 Lincoln Street 
Lander, WY 82520 

EXHIBIT TO PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT 

Exhibit A: November 15,2006 notice letter froin Sierra Club and WOC to PacifiCorp, with 
compact disk. 



Reed Zars 
Atton~cy a1 Law 

910 Jcearney St., Laramie, WY 82070 
Office: 307-745-7979 Fax: 307-745-7999 

Robert Asambel, Plant Managing Tlirecror Gregory 1'. Abel, Chairman 
PacifiCorp 1'acifi('oi3p 
P.O. Box 15 8 $25 NE Multiio~iiali 
Point of Roclts. WY 82942 Po~~lai id ,  O R  97232 

RE: Sierra Cluh and W ~ o i ~ i i i i ~  Orrtdoor ('ouncil Notice of Inlent& Sue Facif-iCorpJo-r 
Violationsof the Clcali Ajr Act at the din1 Bridgg J'o\vel* Pla~it in Sm-ectwate~. 
( 'o~~nl  y, W~?JOIII~IIZ. 

[ a111 tlrriting on behfilfof Sicrl-a C'luh and the Wyoming Outtloor. C u ~ i c i l  (MJOC) lo 

notjf~r you ol'tlieir intent to Cilc suil to atldrcss significant and ongoing violatiolls oftlie Clean Air 
Act at the Jim Hridger Po~ver l'lant (Jim Rridger) in S-~zreel\vater County, Wyoming. 

Jim Hridger, a Tous 111iil. 2,300 megawatl (MW) coal-fircd clcclricity gcncsating power 
plant located approximatelj 28 miles east ofKocl\ Springs, Wyomi~ig, is owned by PacifiCorp 
(2/3) and Idaho Pone]. Comlxinj ( V 3 )  and is opcrated l?y Pacifi('or1). MidAmcrican Vnergy 
FIoldi~~gs C:ompa~~y, a selr-descrihccl "global energy prnvidcr" haseil in Iowa. o-\vns Pacifii'orl,. 
IDAC'ORP, alllother ener-gj hol(liligs cornpan3 based In Idaho, o-\vnr Idaho Pon~cr. Tlacl~ of 11ie 
four taiigei~tially.-fil.cd hoilcrs I711rns over 500*000  outid ids oV coal per Iioi~r Coal Ibs .Jim 13ridger 
comes by coinleyos and ( ~ u c I <  fsn~n the nzasb~, I3ridger milie. Cooling nratcs for .Jim T3sidger 
(34,300 acrc-fcet per year) is delivesed to tlie plant \ria a 40-mile pipelme ii.0111 the Cjrce~i River. 

1'i~rsuaiit to 1.11~ Clean Air Act: 42 I~J.S.(~'. 5 76(63(a)( 1 ), and I.he operating pelniit li)r Jim 
Bridger, cirizeiis are entitled to l~sing suit to elisjoin vio1at:ions oTa.11 emiss io~~ st.andard. o r  
limitation, and lo see[<. civil pena.lties k31- such tiiolations. The dlleafi Air Act provides lor civil 
pc~ia.lties of up l:o $32.,500 Ihr each t~iolation pel day. 42 1J.S.C'. $ 74.1 3(e); 40 U.F.lP. 5 19.2; 1.0 
1.J.S.C. 5 7413(b); 28 U.S.CI. 9 246 1 .  as a111e1iclc.d by 3 1 1.J.S.C. 5 3701; 69 Fcd.Reg. 7121 (F'eb. 
13,2004). '1.0 the extent ~.equired hy 3 7604(a)(1) oEll~c Cllcan Air Acl. mlcl j l i ~ o .  Stat. 8 35-1 1- 
904., 1 alii tliel-efo1.e wsiting to 11ot:ilj: you (.hat Sierra Club and WOC intencl to file suil. in the 
applica.ble federal district court any Lime 60 daj-s  aft.cr t h e  posl.lnarlc dirtc of this lef tcs to enjoili 
ancl penalize the, 1-iolations described below. 



I'acifiCol-p is responsible for the violations alleged in  this letter as both opcrator and co- 
owner of  Sixn Bridges. 

1. Background 

Acc~~rding to PacifiC'orp7s .June 15, 2004 Operating Permit, all four tl~iits at Jim Bridger 
cumulatjvely emit on an annual basis illlo L11e air of '\Vyornjng approxi1i1ately 14,000 tolls ol' 
parficu1;-tfe matter, 4 1,000 to11s o1'1iiiroge1i oxides (NO,), and 27,000 Lons ofsulli~r dioxide (80, ) .  

.Tim RI-idger also emils apl?roximatelj 18,000,000 tons of carbon dioxidc (C10,) c17eqr 
year. accclesating the warming of ihc rlartli's atmosplicrc and causing profound cnviron~nentol 
and economic impacis worldwide. It 1vould take o\,er 41 8,000,000 tree seedlings grown for /en 
years ro off-sct Jim Bridger':, ci117711~li discharge of ('O,.' 

Jill? Rridger's annual NO, elliissions are ecluivalent to the e~ujssions of two t~iilliot~ cars 
each driven 12:SC)O n~iles pel. year. (Accol.ding to EPA, an aJrelnge vehicle emits 41 pounds oE 
NO, per year. Jim Bridger emits apj~roximately 82,00,000 pounds of NO, per year. 'T'bns 
82,000,000 -+ 4 1 = 2.0 million.)' 

Accnrding to its 2004 roxic lisleasc Invcnlo~y reports; all [bur .lim 13ridger units 
cumularively emir on a n  annual basis o17er 280,000 pounds of ha~arclous a i r  polluta~ils. i11cludi13g 
120,000 pounds of hydrogen I'luoride, 68.001) pounds o r  hydrochlot-ic acid, and 1110,000 potmds 
of sulli~ric acid. Jim Hridgcr also emits at Icast 440 p o ~ ~ n d s  of mei.cury into thc air cvery yea]. 

'[he ~ L I I O U I I ~  ~ S ~ n c r c t ~ r y  that .Ti111 T3ridger discliargcs into the air every year is e q ~ ~ \ / i j l e ~ ~ t  to 
the mercury in approxitllalel~ 285.000 household lher~-t~ometcrs. 'rhc an~ount of rncrcury in one 
I~o~ischold thermometer (0.1 g), is onough lo contaminale all ofllic fish in a lakc ~ : i t l i  a surface 
area of 20 acrec.' 

111. The Violations 

.!ill1 Bridge]. has violarcd, ancl colitiri~lcs to violatc: ( 1 )  the 20 pel-cent npaci ty l i  mil on a 
six-minute axcl.agc it1 perlnil conditjnn (r'A)(it)(iii) applical?le to I Illits 1-3.  and in peln~it 
col~ditio~i (1;6)(b)jiv) applicable lo I J n i t  4. in .lim 13ridgerns Operaling I'ern~its inclt~ding IJLII 11ot 
limited to those issued by tlic M~yo~iiing 1)etxirlmenl of'l;n\ ironmenla1 Quality (IIEQ) on 
Ocloher 29,2001 (T'do 30-1 '711-2). .Tune 15,20C14 (No. 31 - 120-I), alid tSc1,tembcr 6, 2005 (No. 3- 
1-1 20-2): and (2) and the 30 pcrcenl opacity limit 011 an hourly average i1.1 condition (F(,)(c) i n  

I See, 111tp://www.us~tcgate~~~i1y.1~et/tc~ol/ 

' See: 11Itj~://ii\v~~.c~~a.go~~/otaq~cons~u11c1-/1000 1 3 . p d  
3 See, ht.tj?://w W I I  . n(~harn~ .o i l ~ ~ " d ~ - y ! d o c s ! ( ~  rI'hc Mercury - -- - 
P~~oblem - - - Fast__Fa.cts.l~dE 



Simi Bridger's Operating Permits including bul not limited to those issued by DEQ on October 
29, 2001 (No. 30-1 20-2). .Tune 15, 2004 (?\lo. 3 1-1 20-1 ), and September 6. 2005 (No. 3-1 -1 20-2). 

Violations of the 20 and 30 I'erccnt Opacitv I , i l~~i is  at Ji1i7 Rt'idgcr. -- -- - 

PacifiCorp lias regularly violated the 20 percent opacily limit applicable lo Units 1 -3 in 
condition (Fh)(a)(iii) it1 the permits listed above. Thc evidence of each 20 perccnl opacity li~iiit 
violatiori is set fnrili in I'aci tiCorg'7 C'ontinuous E'rni~sioi~s Moniloring lieports that have been 
filed \villi DEQ on a yuartcrly basis. I'acli 6-~iiinuic avesagc conlinuo~~s opacity n?onilor 1-cadii~g 
in esccss of 20 percenl as de~csibed in cach of'Ji111 13ridger7s quartesly repor~s that contail) the 
upaciij data from Jim Bridgcr's continuo~~s siaclc opacity monitors between November 15, 200 1 
to the date of this letter. co17stit11tc5 a vioJatio~l of l l ~  20 percenl limit for which you arc liablc lo 
pay a civil penally. Such readings arc scl foi.tli in the electronic filcs on compact djsk included 
~vitli this lettar. I<ach opacity rcacliing i n  cxccss ol'tl~is liinif afics the datc of tliic lcttcr constitutes 
an additic,nal violation liv \%liicl~ ~ O I I  arc also lial?lc lo pay a c i ~  i l  pcnaltp. 

PacifiC'orp also lias regular1 y violalcd the 20 percent stack opacity limit applicable lo 
Unit 4 in condition (FG)(b)(iv) i n  the per~nits listetl above. The e\~idcncc of cach 20 perccni 
opacity Iinlit violation is set fo1.111 in .\in1 T3riclgcs9s C~ontinuous L':missions Monitoring Repor-ts 
tlaai have been iilcd with I)EQ on a quarlcrJy basis Eat:h hourly aterage conti~~uous opacity 
moiiilor reading in excess or30 pcrccnt as dcscribccl 111 each a f  Jim Uridgcr's quarterly reports 
that contain the opacity dala fkom .Tim Bridges's Ilnit 4 duct opacity monitor bct\weell November 
15, 2001 to tlic date o r  this lellcr. constitulcs Icn scpasaie vio1alic)ns oftlic 20 perceni, six-minutc 
average stack opacity limit for \vhich you ase liable to pay a civil penalty. Such rcadings arc \el 

forth in the elcctrcmic files on compact disk i~~cluclccl with this let~er. Each hourly duct opacity 
reading in excess of30  perccni aftcr the date of this lcller conslitulcs ten additioi~al viola~ions of 
the 20 percent, six-niinrlie slacl< opacily limit applicable to 1Jnit 4 for whicla you are also liable lo 

pa!, a civil pe~?ally. 

Tn :ddi~ion, Pacifi('orl7 has regularly violatcd the '30 percent 11ou1.ly opacity li~nil 
applicable to IJlrlit 4 i l l  condition (F6)(c) in the permits listed ahovc. 1 he evidelice of each 30 
perceilt hourly opacity Iiinjr \riolation is sset 1'c)sth in Jim Bridgcl*'~ C'ontinuous I;niissions 
Monitoring Reports Illat ha\ c Ixcn filed with  Tjl'C) on a quarterly basis I:ach Jio~~sly avesage 
continuous duct opacitj~ n~onitor I-eacling in exccss oP30 pcrccnt as cicscribed in each o f  Jim 
B1.idgcsns qual-terl~ rcl-iorls t 11a1 contain ihc opacity data Srona .li 111 Rsidger's I lnit 4 contjrauous 
duct opacity monitor berwcen No\~cmhcr 1 5, 200 1 lo tlie date of Illis letter, consiitutcs a I iolalion 
of tlie 30 percent limit Ihr which you al-c liahlc In pay a civil pcnalty. S~lcli readings are set Ihlth 
in ilie elect~onic files on coml7act dicik i ~ i c l ~ ~ d e d  with this letter. T'ach npaci~y readink T 111 ' excess 
of this lii131i aster the date orthis leltcr conslilr~tcs an aclditio~aal I-iolaiion for which you arc also 
liablc to pay a civil penaltg. 



A penalty niay be cxcused for an opacity -\.iolation caused by an "abnormal condition" or 
'kquipmcnt ma1fu11ction'- pursuant to pcrmit condition (G31), but onJy if PacifiCorp establishes 
that it follo~vecl tlie procedural prcrecluisites and meets the substantive dements of rhis excusc. 
Without limi tatiori, c o ~ ~ t i n ~ r o i ~ s  opacity nioni tor rcadings in exccss of llic 20 and 30 jn~1.cCili 
opacity IimiIs that Paci fiCorp st atcd 111 its qua1.1 erly rcpol.ts were caused by the following events 
are not valid defenses: ( 1 )  cllc~nical conipos~lion ofthe flyasli producing Iligh i.esislivity in the 
ash, (2) one precipitator gas paill out of scrvice for maintenance, (3) temporary boiler draft 
excursiol~ caused by unit load cliangc, (4) boiler draft excursions calrscd by adjusting pultcri7ers, 
Cans, sootblotj,cl.s, alid air I I ~ I ~ I S ,  ( 5 )  flue gas SO7 co~~ditioning system out oSscrvicc, 16) 
operating prccipitatol. rapl7crs coniin~iously to remove ash deposits, (7) gas pal11 field or f ields out 
of service Sol. nlaintenancc, (8) opacitjr spikcs, cause unlcnow~i. (9,) drali cxcursiol~ causcd by ;ash 
collcclimg system, (10) ail fi.orcn c a u s i ~ ~ g  poor alomizczt~on in fuel oil burners, ( I  1 ) holler 
chemical clean, turbine ofS-line, ignitors on fol. t ~ t i i ~ ~ t . i t t ~ ~ ~  control during boilcr clean, ( 12) urlir 

ill startup moclc, l?oilcr dran system on, oil fuct firing, ( 1 ? ) unit i l l  ~liutdown n~ode,  drali systcni 
o ~ i  for boiler cool d o v , ~ ~ ,  no fi1c1 firing, piecipitator offlinc, ( 14) tcinporary boilcr clrali excursion 
caused by gas path being p11t in, or taltcl~ out of service. ( 1  5) loss oi'po~.vcr to precipitator 
conlrols, (1 6) low sraclc tciiipcratu~.e, st~specl ~~ioistuse interference probable cause. (1 7) suspect 
oil coating of precipitator i~llc~?iaI? fro111 boi l tx  ~tal.tup, rapping prccipilator to lemove coating 
and b ~ ~ i l d l ~ p  and (1 8) anj other reason for which 110 exccptioli to the liniif exists. Tn any event. to 
the extent PacifiCorp has any federally-applicable defense lo any reading in excess of the 
applicable opacity limit, i t  is Pacij'iC'orp's busdell to provc. 

1111. Offca- to review information. 

r > 1 o tlie extent 5,011 lia\~c e~,iclcnce iliat slio-c~~s, contrary to the allegations in this letter, tliat 
PacifiCorp is in  h l l  compliance ~vjlh all appl~cablc requirements at .lit11 Bridges urge yo11 to 
provide i t  to us so {hat wc niay potciitic?llj avoid, or at least limit, litigation 011 Biese isslles. 

TV. BloncIusicnm 

PaciliCo~-13 is currently operating Jini 13ridgcr in violation of the Clean Air Act, the 
Wyomi~~g  SIP and applicable pc'mits. Its cihil pc~inlty liability for past violatiol~s cxlends at 
least ror tlie last live years. Paciri('ol-p should only opcr:)te the J11ii I3ridger Powcla Plant i l l  the 
future in fill1 compliance \villi its opacity limits and all otller apl7licable rcyuire~ne~~ts.  

'Tllc address of Sierra Club in  Wyomilig is 247 Coffee]? Avenue, Sheridan, WV 82801, 
and tlie ~iational Iieadqual-ters of Sierra Club is losaacd at 85 Sccol~d S~I-eet, San Fra~~cisco, 
Galifolhnia 941 0 5 .  The address oftlie Wyoming Outdoor Clouncil is 262 I.incoln, I.andcr, MiY 
82520. Sierra. Club aiid WOI-' have indjviclual ~nembers who have been, and conti~lue 1.0 he, 
ili.jured h y  tlie excessi've and urila.~vful eli~issio~is froni Jim I-3ridge1.. lf you have any quesl:ions 
regarding tlie allegations in this notice, believe any o - f ~ l ~ e  foregoi~ig informatior1 to be in error, 
14~ish to discuss the ex.i:liange of inhrma~ion cnnsistclll 1uit11 the suggestion a.bove, or woulcl 



othcrwisc would like to discuss a settlement oflhis matter prior to the initiation of litigation, 
please col~tact the attorney below. 

Yours Si.ncel.ely, 

Att: CD ~v/PacifiCa~.p qua~terly reports 4"' Quarter 200 1 tlirougl-r 3'"uarter 2006. 

pc: by certified mail: 

S~ephen I,. .lohnson Davc Finley 
Administrator ,%it Quality Divisio~i 
17.23. Environmetital Protection Agcilcy Wyon~ing 1)T:Q 
401 M Street, S.M7. 122 West 25111 Street 
washing to^^, D.C. 20460 Clieyma~e, iVY 82002 

Robert Robe~.t+s 
Regional Administrator 
EPA Region 8 
999 18'" Street, Snite 300 
Deliver, CO 80202-2466 

Governor Dave Freudcnllial 
Officc of the (iovernnr 
Stalc Capitol 
200 West 24th Strecl 
Cheycnnc, IVY 82002-00 1 0 

Registelaed Agent 
CT Corporation 
1720 Carey A\<en~it: 
C'lleyenne, U'Y 82001 

MidAr~~crican Cilel*gy Iloldi~igs C'ompany 
P.O. BOY 657 
Des Moines, IA  50303-065'7 


